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1.1

1.2

1. INTRODUCTION
Background
On 6 September 1994 Nilesh Gadher (NG) ran over and killed SK, a complete
stranger. NG was known to suffer from paranoid schizophrenia and had
recently been discharged from hospital and was subject to the Care
Programme Approach. Pursuant to Department of Health policy, as set out in
HSG(94)27, the Local Health Authority Wwere required to commission an
Independent Inquiry to investigate the circumstances and report, and the
London Borough of Hounslow agreed to participate in the process of the
Inquiry and to meet part of its cost. Accordingly we were invited by the
Authority and by Hounslow Social Services to form a Panel of Inquiry: this is
our report. R T |
fo- . +1 e i Terms of Reference.., , -
We were given the following terms gf;;@fé;jence -
1. To examine all the circumstances surrounding the treatment and care
of NG by the mental health services, in particular:-

(i) The appropriateness of his treatment, care and supervision in
respect of’

(a) his assessed health aﬁd social care needs;

(b)  his assessedr:sk}of potential harm to himself or others;

(¢)  any previous psychiatric history;

(d  the number and nature of any previous court
convictions.

(i)  The extent to which NG's care corresponded to statutory
obligations, particularly the Mental Health Act 1983; relevant
guidance from the Départment of Health (including the Care
Programme Approach HC(90)23/LASSL(90)11, Supervision
Registers HSG(94)5, and the discharge guidance HSG(94)27);

and local operational policies.



(iti)  The extent to which his prescribed care plans including
medication were:
(a) effectively delivered;
(6) ~ ‘complied with by NG.
2. To examine the adequacy of the collaboration and communications
between:
(@ The agencies (Hounslow and Spelthorne Community and =™~ ~ - -
Mental Health NHS Trust, Hounslow Social
Services, the General Practitioner and the Star Centre)
involved in the care of NG or in the provision of services to
him, and -+
(ii) the statutory agencies and NG's family, ™ = =~
3 To consider the ovérall‘sthidard of tare arrangements offered to NG
and the relationshiip beétwesii the&& arrangeriients and the events of*
6/9/94. |
4 To prepare a report and make recommendations to Ealing,

Hammersmith and Hounslow Health Authority and the London
Borough of Hounslow.
. Palohguy
1.3 The Panel of Inqulry co;ﬁpﬁs.t;ctl thf; ‘);'o_llov-ving individuals:—
. His Honour J R Main QC - Chair

. Dr John Wilkins BS¢c MB BS MRCPsych, Medical Director, The
Riverside Mental Health Trust

. Mr David Pope BA RMN DMS CQSW, Associate Member of the
Association of Directors of Social Services

. Mr Steve Manikon SRN RMN DMS, Former Director of Mental
Health, Mid Surrey Health Authority



1.4

1.5

We are grateful to the Authority for their administrative support and for their
hospitality during the period of the Inquiry.

We are aware that there have regrettably been several Inquiries nationally into
similar incidents in the recent past. We have read some of the more recent
resulting reports in full and utilised the Zito Trust publication "Learning the
Lessons" to review the wider picture, We have been greatly assisted by the
Report produced earlier this year by the Steering Committee of the
Confidential Inquiry into Homicides and Suicides by Mentally Ill Péople.
Whilst we have tried to avoid duplication and repetition of points already
made, as much as it appeaied reasonable to so do, the Inquiry did identify a

number of key problems similar to those of other-Inquiries, and these are, of

- necessity, detailed in our report:: . ax e  maziaw

SN  FER ©ocroedwiseMethod s 0 L o cudmmn g

1.6 .

1.7

1.8

1.9

We decided to proceed by reading the relevant papers and by inviting those

“most directly concerned to give oral evidence to us privately: In addition to

the reports and policy documents provided by the Authority, the Trust and

Social Services we were able toisee copies of all relevant hospitalynursing-and -

general practitioner notes and Social Services files. With one exceptioh all
those who were invited to give oral evidence zigreed to do so. We are grateful
to them for giving up their time to give evidence. . -+ = ..iis. .o

We made it plain to each witness that we would not be able to discharge the
task given to us unless we were told the truth and each of them appeared to
understand and accept this obligation.

A transcript of a tape recording of the evidence of each witness was supplied
to the witness for correction.

We heard oral evidence from some witnesses on 29, 30 and 31 January 1996
and from others on 14 and 15 February 1996. When we began to form some
provisional views as to the likely contents of our report we felt that three

witnesses ought to be given the opportunity to give additional evidence.



1.10

1.11

1.12

One of them agreed to do so and we heard her evidence on 13 March 1996.
We saw NG himself on 11 March 1996. |

Among the papers available to us were the report dated 12 December 1994 of
an internal review of the care and treatment available to NG commissioned by
The Chief Executive of the Trust and the Director of Social Services, together
with the record of the evidence given to the review team and supporting
documents. As will be seen (see especially 3.19) we do not agree with al} of
the conclusions of the review team, but we agree that their recommendations
based on those conclusions were valuable and we note that much has been
done to implement them.- Where action or progress has been initiated we have
not sought to repeat these matters. |

The internal review team did not interview NG himself nor-did they interview
any member of his family orithe:hisband of the victim. -As will be seen we
found that NG and his :family‘.w‘ereaable to give-us'considerable assistance. -
All of them,expr_essed‘ genuine regret at the tragedy which occurred and their
sympathy for the family of the victim. -

SK, the husband of the victim; could not give us much help on the facts
because he was at work at the time of the incident. - We were impressed with
his dignified attitude to the cruel blow which he and his small daughter have
sustained and his courage'in facing the future with the support of‘his family.
Echoing prosecuting counsel's words at the Old Bailey when NG appeared

+ there to face trial on a charge of murder, to which he was found unfit to plead,

he said " I was'fold at the time that my wife was in the wrong place at the
wrong time. "I find that hard to accept. "You can't be in the wrong place at
the wrong time on a Tuesday when you are shopping and parking your car.
"So I don't accept that - she wasn't in the wrong place at the wrong time. "He
was in the wrong place at the wrong time so far as I am concerned." He could

not have summarised our task in more simple and moving words.



Abbreviations
1.13 We have used the following abbreviations in the course of our report :-

"the Authority"” means the Ealing, Hammersmith & Hounslow Health
Authority
"CPA" means the Care Programme Approach in accordance with Department
of Health Circular HC(90)23/Local Authority Social Services Letter
LASSL(90)1 1 i
"CPN" means Community Psychiatric Nurse - -
"DVLA" means the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency

"MRCPsych" means Member of the Royal College of Psychlatnsts
"PSAW" means the PsychJamc Support and Aftercare Workshop
"SHO" means Semor House Ofﬁcer ‘

“nSocial Srvices® mea‘ns?onfdo:x’Bdto‘ﬁé‘li%Fﬁéﬁhéidw Sodial Services
Department ::... - ¢ simdeees izie.
“the Trust" means the Hounslow and Spelthorne Mental Health and
" Community NHS Trust.
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2.2

23

24

2; THE FACTS
We begin by setting out what appear to us to be the relevant facts. We take
these from medical and social work records supplemented and, where
apj)ropriate, corrected by the oral evidence which we heard.

Early days

NG was born in Kenya on 2 June 1958, He came to the UK with his family at
the age of 12 and continued his education here obtaining four GCSESs, three
A levels and a degree. He qualified as a pharmacist and worked in this
capacity for about five yeam ﬁnally owmng h.IS own business Aand house He

Couer AR el oo
was marned in 1982 and has one son; the marnagg cnded in dlvorce in 1986

[FELT] 3\_:\*\‘ L WIHL L

. and he lost contact vmhhxs w1fe aud son,. H&xemmned in.contact to some

U”

extent with his father and some other members of his family, ;v -

| Iﬂﬁéss"7i‘*""“* Ll
The family noticed some changes in his behévibur in‘lll‘.)82 which they are
inclined to attribute to the shock of an accident in which he was not injured
although his car was badly damaged. He began to talk differently,
complaining of hearing noises and qﬁa:relling with a colleague at work; he
began to say that songs he had written were being stolen and carried a box of
records with him; if contradicted on thesé matters he would become
aggressive. He was referred by his GP to a consultant psychiatrist in 1984 and
a diagnosis of paranoid schizophrenia was ultimately made. His mother died
in1985 and the family felt that this was another shock which affe;:ted his
health. |
He was charged with an offence of forging prescriptions in May 1985 and was

placed on probation; in 1986 he was struck off the Pharmaceutical Register.
6



2.5

2.6

His father arranged to take over his honse and to sell his business, and this
action remains a source of dispute bettveen them.

First admission to hospital
The GP notes record violent and threatenjng behaviour on 14 August 1985
and an urgent appointment was obtamed with the consultant psychratnst NG
was well enough, however, to travel to Indla for two months in September
1985.
In Apnl 1986 he was workmg asa pharmacxst in Wales awartmg the outcome

of the dlsctphnary hearmg by the Pharmaceutlcal Soc1ety of Great Bntaln

Whrle hvmg there he attacked hrs wrfe w1th a kmfe and attempted to krdnap ‘

N ) R N

2.7

28

hlS son. He was, adn:ntted to and detamed in hospltal in Wales under s.3
Mental Health Act 1983 and remamed in hosprtal untrl July that year
Thereafier he remained undcr medlcatlon and was seen by his GP and as an
outpatrent at the West Mrddlesex Hospltal On 7 February 1989 he assaulted
his father and refused all medrcatron when seen by his GP and a soc1a1
worker The fam11y formed the vrew, whrch they retaln that NG was very
reluctant to accept medrcatron as they understood it he drshked 1njectlons
He would apparently agree, while in hospital, to accept oral medication asan
alternative to compulsory admission, but etopped taking it on discharge if not
before. He frequenthr quarrelled Wlth his father and, according to evidence
given by his family, to get into ﬁghts in pubs and clubs he frequented.
Second admtsston to hospital

Dr CR, a consultant psychiatrist at the West Middlesex Hospital who had not

been involved previously, saw NG at home on 10 February 1989; initially NG



2.9

2.10

211

2.12

was angry and verbally aggressive and pushed the Community Psychiatric
Nurse accompanying Dr CR out of the house. Admission to hospital was
recommended. ’
On 15 February 1989 NG was admitted to the West Middlesex Hospital
and detained under 5.2 Mental Health r\ct 1983 until March 1989. NG then
registered with Dr NR as his GP. |

| Songs reeorded |
In 1990 NG realised some investments and was able to have at Ieast two

songs, for which he had wntten the words, recorded on disc and on tape His

| father found in hrs ﬂat aﬂer h1$ arrest a 45rpm dlsc whrch appears to have

. been publrshed by NG hnnself tradmg as Ash Musxc We have hstened to the

d1sc wrth mterest

Vlolence in Indra _

In that year NG also travelled to Kenya, New York and Los Angeles and then

made his way to Indla In Indra he threatened Bank officials with a knife in

the course of a dlspute about some mxssmg travellers cheques and was

arrested, and the assistance of the famrly was obta.med by the consul This

whole episode suggests that he was acutely 111 at thrs time.

In May 1991 he was referred by Dr NR to Dr CR who saw hllIl at an

accelerated out-patient appointment. Dr CR reported that he was a difficult
patient to treat because of his suspicion of doctors and his guarded way of
answering questions. On 14 June 1991 Dr NR recorded that NG was

displaying threatening behaviour in surgery so that the police had to be called.



Third admission to hospital

2.13 By the autumn of 1991 NG was facing a number of difficulties caused
primarily by his illness. He had failed to obtain re-registration as a pharmacist
and was inclined to blame Dr NR for this. He had had some employment -but
mostly of an unskilled nature, apart from a brief spe.Il as anl assistant in a
pharmacy. He had quarrelled with his father and was living in bed and
breakfast accommodation. - |

2.14 InNovember 1991 NG assaulted a police officer at Brentford Magistrates
Court and when he appeared at Uxbndge Magmtrates Courton7 November

1991 in connection with this matter a Probatlon Officer an'anged for the

AT .t H U‘“\...iw' i A.‘\.:_.' Fny l‘_'l.‘

L

attendance of a psychlamst and anApproved Soclal Worker and he was

P .41(.-”-' Aman TR :ﬁa

deta.med in West Mlddlesex Hospltal under s. 3 Mental Health Act 1983.

wriy

The cnmmal charges were subsequently dropped

2,15 He did not settle in hospxtal and \;vas melmed to appeal against the or‘der

for compulsory admlssmn Aﬂer 28 days there was a possibility that he
might be dlscharged and he stopped his medlcatlon His behawour promptly
deteriorated so that further compulsory detentlon was cons1dered and he
punched the junior doctor who was examining him for this purpose.
Molvelto- Ho‘uns-lo.w

2.16 He was discharged in February 1992 to the Psychlatnc Day Hospital attached
to the West Mlddlesex Hospltal and he was prowded by Thames Valley
Housing Association with a flat at 92 Harris Close, Hounslow. This move
meant that when he was discharged from the Day Hospital in January 1993

he ceased to be under the care of Dr CR and came under the care of Dr LP in

whose "catchment area" he lived and that similarly social work support was

9



2,17

2.18

2.19

provided by the London Borough of Hounslow Mental Health Team (West)
and not by the I?last Team.

The West Team has had a number of difficulties since its inception in

1992. Unlike the East Team, it ‘has to deal withl three hospitals and is not
situated close to any of them. There has been a lngh turnover of staﬁ and
frequently it has not been poss1ble to fill vacancies w1th quahﬁed and
experienced mental health social workers, as qtn_ckly as would have been
desirable. The Team Leader at the time was ME who was promoted to the

post when it was created and we were told that some former colleagues found

BN 12 0 e

his style of leadersth unhelpful The senior management of the mental health

+
_[_,_‘ . vt SL AR -u,_m.f{': - ...- .—wra.---b.—h

service within the department expenenced a senes of unfortunate and often

rapid leadersh1p changes dunng the penod in questlon, whlch led to a less
i FICT L SRR SRR Y4 S TR I it

than effective response to Jumor managers on occasions.
Social work file closed

NG made good progress dunng 1993 and appeared to be con31dermg

opportum’ues for educanon and employment and (except to the famlly) to be

srferpet e v e EETED)

taking his medlcanon In October 1993 it was deCldCd that he should come

off the 5.117 register and that the social work file should be closed.

Health deteriorates
He was still attending psychiatric outpatient reviews and was seen for this
purpose on 15 November 1993. Dr NR wrote to Dr LP on 2 November
reporting that NG was complaining to him of psychotic symptoms and Dr HA

(then SHO to Dr LP) replied on 16 November referring to a fall which NG

10



2.20

2.21

2.22

suffered on 14 November but otherwise indicating her opinion that NG was
stable.

Overdose and fourth admission to hospital
On 5 December 1993 NG took an overdose of paracetamol (he said that he
had taken 164 tablets) and was admitted o hospital. NG told us that he was
overwhelmed by despair at his failure to enlist any support for his |
application for re-registration as a phermaeiet and at the prospect of eviction
from his flat, and wanted to die; but it was thought from what he said at the

time that he had reacted to a quafrel with his father. He was exarnined on 7

ADecember by Dr HA He sald that he had been lying to the doctors regarding

Ve t .41 uﬂ.a\‘

h1s tablets he had been non-eomphant for 1'8 months He had not taken

e . ‘__a.e\.., ‘n“"‘

Fa b

medlcatlon because he felt there was nothmg wrong w1th h1m and because of

V‘\—

L undesxrable s1de effects Dr HA con31dered that NG was st111 a smclde risk

a because he had no-one to turn to other than hls fa:mly whom he (N G) thought

saw him as mad when he was not.

In hospital NG from time to time incticated that he would not take medication
on diseha}ge and depot mediea"ti'or‘i was eoxiétdereo but not fnibiemented. His
brother visited him and spoke to hureing staff but otherwise there was no
contact between hospital and famxly DrLP felt that he woold need social
work support on discharge and requested that a CPA meeting be arrahged
which should be attended by fether and brother;. the nursing notes record that
no decision as to discharge would be taken before they had been seen.

On 17 December 1993 a referral was maeIe to Hounslow Social Services

~ and the Social Worker recording the referral noted that neighbours at Harris

Close were complaining of noise and that Thames Valley Housing

11



2.23

2.24

Association had sent a letter about it. A copy of this letter remained on the file
but appears not.to have been further noticed until after NG's arrest in
September 1994. It was also noted that NG had been violent in the past
attacking members of his family and that he could be abusive.

The case was allocated to HF, an Approved Social Worker in the West

Team with coosiderable experiehce. By this time the medical and social

work teams were endeavouring to follow the Care Programme Approach

set out in Circulat' HC(90)23)LASSL(90)1 1 and HF was requested to convene
a CPA meetmg ThlS was ongmally an'anged for 8 February 1994 but the

appomtment was cancelled by I{F at a Iate stage although NG's father and

."‘ - f“‘ 1“ ® 'r'f

" e

'brother were not mformed of the canceliatton and attended they had not

T L

prewously met Dr LP She was annoyed by the cancellatlon and wrote a sharp

letter to HF. She explamed tous that her untatton was partly due to her

~ perception (shared by others) that she received much less co-operation from

the West Team than from the East Team. ME when asked about this
by us expressed a reclprocal v1ew and pomted out the dtfﬁcultxes ﬁom which
the West Team suffered (see 2 17 above) wlnch lmnted the capacity of the
team to respond as effectively as they and their health sen_aice colleagues
would wish.

Discharge to Day Hospital
The CPA meeting took place on 8 March 1994 attended only by Dr LP, HF _
and NG. NG's father and brother arrived at the hospital in time and reported

to reception but the meeting was over before HF was aware of their presence.

Dr LP had already left but they spoke to HF and NG. Father formed the view

12




2.25

2.26

from his son's demeanour and the appearance of his eyes that he was not well.
On being told that it was proposed shortly to discharge NG father said that
such an action would be the responsibility of others; if discharged as he then
was he was likely to kill himself or somebody else. Father and son felt so
strongly about this that they made a note of the conversation. HF noted their
names on the CPA documentation as attending the meeting but made no
record of fathefs views in either the CPA record or the S8 case record, nor
was this information shared with medical colleagues. We would have wished
to have discussed this matter further with HF, but he declined our invitation to

appear before usona second occasion. The fannly had no ﬁ.uther meeting

(RN NS KRT LR S TFIC I WO YUY SRS

with anybody at the hospltal or: mth HF before NG’s arrest.

it ,,,,

The formal record of the CPA meetmg was made by HF It was noted that
discharge ﬁ'O;l; hosp1tal was proposed on 11 March and would be followed by
attendance at the Day Hospital. Tlus regime would remove the need for visits
by a Community Peychiauic Nﬁrse and involvelttent ofa C'PN was noted as
"on hold till discharge from Day Hospital". The CPN service was not
in-formed-of .the decision and no CPN was allocated. h

It was also noted that NG would in future attend the Star Centre. This is a
voluntary organisatioo'offering support to tttose with mental health problems
on a "drop in" basis. The Centre asks for ret’errals to be made on a form
provided by the Centre which includes provision for the patient to record
consent to the disclosure of int:ormation. Such a form was completed on 14
March by Dr JH, then SHO to Dr LP. That post is filled on a rotating basis by

a GP trainee who will, in the ordinary course of events, have had little

psychiatric experience. She completed the form in her own handwriting but

13



2.27

2.28

can hardly have foreseen the difficulty to which this would lead later on (see
2.43). She also noted under the heading "History of aggression/violence" that
NG had been "charged with ABH and assault 1991 but charges dropped - no

other known history".

At the Day Hospital NG was once more under the care of Dr CR who, for

 historical reasons, Iooked after all patlents while in the Day Hospltal

Activities there were then co- ordmated by SC,a recently quahﬁed psychiatric

nurse. The clinical team felt that NG wouid beneﬁt from anger management
therapy A postgraduate psychology student was attached to the Day Hospital

to gain chmcal expenence and had set up group therapy sess1ons SC was

'Z"'._h'_i ri ] .i irl X Esly .'-‘4.'.') s.ll L "';'J-'EJ

doubtful whether NG had sufficient mSIght to benefit from group work in tlns

Haiaoa.o 33 & S “.!"t.,.z..v S iel

ﬁeld These doubts were borne out in practlce NG dld not co—operate and h13
attendance at the sessrons ceased R | .

A referral was made in May 1994 by the Day Hosp1tal to the Heston Work
Centre. Thisisa facxllty prov1ded a.ud ﬁmded by the London Borough of
Hounslow. It was ongmally mtended to prowde work for the physrcally
disabled and for those wrth learmrr; dljs”ablhtres but a number of those
attending now have psychiatric ﬂlness It is the pohcy of the Centre

not to accept anybody with a history of aggression or onence There is no set
form of referral and no procedure for obtaining the consent of a patient to the

disclosure of information. The information provided by the Day Hospital

to the Centre supplemented by what they were told by NG himself gave the

14



2.29

staff at the Centre (who are not trained or experienced in the field of mental
health) a very ihcomplete picture; in particular they knew nothing about the
history of violence.

Discharge from D‘ay Hospital |
HF was requested to arrange a further CPA meeting and this was fixed for 28
June 1994, although NG was discharged from the Day Hospltal on 10 June,
Itis probable that the meeting took place in Dr LP's room at the West
Middlesex Hospital and that the hoSpita.l notes relating to NG were still in the
Day Hospital at the time. It appears that only Dr LP, HF and NG attended

Because NG's prunary needs at that tlme appeared to them to be somal work

g

v -needs I-IF was selected as Key Worker and there was no referra.l to a CPN

2.30

2.31

" although it was recorded that the CPN was to be mvolved upon dlscharge -

from day care. HF should have completed the CPA documentatlon recordmg
the decisions taken at the meeting but did not do so until after NG's arrest.
After NG's discharge from hosprta.l in March 1994 HF visited him at home
from time to time. HF had a caseload of some ’m'erlty cases, two or three of
which he regarded as potentially more problematic than NG. -Although NG
himself at one stage expressed a wish for more frequent visits, the pattern of
visiting had become monthly by the end of June.

On 11 'July Dr JH saw NG at an out-patient review and reported to Dr NR

that he seemed stable although occasionally experiencing symptoms. These

| were thoughts which seemed to run in parallel to his own. He declined an

increase in his medication. Otherwise he said that he was sleeping and eating
well, attending the Heston Work Centre every moming and two afternoons

a week and the Star Centre two afternoons a week. He appeared to Dr JH to
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2.32

2.33

2.34

2.35

2.36

be doing well. She arranged for him to be seen by her successor in two
months time.

Medication
It was very important to the corrtinued good health of NG that he should
receive regular medicaﬁon. In many similar cases this can be promoted by
regular mjecnons sometrmes’referred to as depot m_recnons As noted above
(see 2.7 and 2.21) NG was known rrot to hke injections and consequently
relied on oral medrcatlon This made it dlfﬁcult for anybody to be sure that

he was in fact reccrvmg the mcdrcatron whrch he nccded, although achange in

his behavrour could well be an mdrcatron of fallure to take medrcatron

v e en W Teel o TEEY .
5. : 4 i e SR I ‘.-_ [AATERNY: S 3 B ook S

WhrIc he was an m—patrent or was regularly attendmg the Day Hosplta! there

_____

‘was a measure of supervrsrcn over hlS medrcatron, but on dlschargc from the

‘ Day Hospltal the arrangement was that NG would collect monthly

prescriptions from his GP Dr NR, who would normally see him on these

occasions.

HF made a routine visit to NG on 27 July 1994. HF's case notes record an

. apparently stable situation; NG:was regularly ‘atténdiﬂg;Hestoﬁ ‘Work Centre

on a daily basis and the Star Centre twice weekly and was in contact with his
family. HF recorded "N remains well",
On 2 August NG visited Dr NR and was given a repeat prescription. He was
ncted to be well.

Health deteriorates

it seems that thereafier there was a marked deterioration in NG's mental

_ health. NG informed the Inquiry Panel he ceased taking his medication in

* June or July. At Heston Work Centre NG was employed in the preparation of

16
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2,38

stationery packs for aircraft passengers. The room in which he worked was
under the charge of JK, a former nurse and housewife now on the point of
retirement. She was concerned at NG's behaviour on Wednesday 3 August,
He objected to the music being played on the radio saying that the songs were
all his having been stolen from him by people who had entered his flat for the
purpose. I-Its facial expression was dift'eren_t and his eyes \yere hloodshot. He
made indecent remarke to female users, some of which may well have been
provoked. Some users asked to leavemearly, but one who lived near to NG felt
that he sometimes fotlowed her home and asked to leave later than him,

Gl, the Mauager of the Heston Work Centre very properly reported these

et LSRRI P IT IR

. .J, Timss

concerns and her own oheewattons to SC at the Day Hosp1ta1 on that day
SC undertook to mform Dr LP It ap;;ears that the message}readhe; i')r LP
on Friday 5 August in the course of a ward round at West M1ddlesex Hospital.
The social worker in attendance noted that all were very coneemed DrLP's
response was to ask. thatHF be mformed that NG had detenorated and
that he be requested to visit and report unfortunately this response was
1neffect1ve because‘HF went en leave on Saturday 6 August and chd not return
until Tuesday 30 August. There was no system for a desi gnated worker
under the CPA procedures to make specific arrangements for cover during
absence on holiday; in emergency a dnty social worker would try to take
appropriate action, possibly guided by a note left on the file.

CPN involvement

Dr LP also asked Dr JH to ask a CPN to assess NG. It is not clear precisely

what transpired between Friday 5 August and Tuesday 8 August - no notes
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2.39

2.40

2.41

were made at the hospital - but on the Tuesday Dr JH made a telephone cali to
SG, a Community Psychiatric Nurse, and asked her to visit and report. SG
had not herself previously met NG; any previous CPN notes were not readily
available to her and she knew no more about the case than Dr JH was able to
impart over the telephone.

Meanwhile on Thursday 4 August NG was seen at the Heston Work Centre to
have an injury to his nose whxch he ascnbed to an metdent ina pubhc house
on the previous evening in vt'h1eh he had been aecused of starmg at someone
and then head-butted by him. He saur Dr NR on Mondaﬁ( 8 'August with the

same compIaint

-Ji'= S ..)s./“ t‘w SL IR A

’NG did not attend the Work Centre on Monday, Tuesday or. Wednesday but

T ‘QIE ,fl. d

he was there on Thursday ll August and SG who had been searchmg for him,

was able to see him there She was lookmg for actw: symptoms of hsychosw
in a man who had made esuwlde attempt, rather theh fora general
deterioration which she had no rneans.of‘measuring, a‘nd not ﬁnding them
decided that no action was required and so informed Dr JH. She

enquired vrhether NG's next out patient rewewscheduledforSeptember could
be accelerated but was told that this would be dlﬂicult unless there was real
urgency. She therefore requested a formal referral of NG to the CPN service
so that the posmon could be momtored and Dr JH prow.ded this. Dr JH felt
that the case now rested with the CPN Social Servrces recorded the view of

the CPN that NG was not causing concern.

The Heston Work Centre noted that NG was once again complaining about

the radio on Wednesday 17 August, but SG-saw him there again on the

" following day and saw no reason to change her previous view. She was
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2.43

confident that he was regularly attending the Centre and that the staff there
would keep her.informed of any cause for increased concern. He seemed
neatly dressed and presentable and said that he was complying with
medication.

Further concerns
On 23 August it was rep;ct'ted -to. the West'teem that ﬁlt&ter complaints about
noise (see 2.22) were beiné tnede by NG's heighbettr to Thames Veliey
Housing Association and to Social Services. ME was consulted and decided
that this was a matter which could wait until HF returned from leave. |

Meanwh11e the staff at the Stax Centre were becommg concerned JG the

oy ety <) E
it 7 thv I

' Drop-m Co-ordmator although not professmnally tramed was aware that if

2 IR khsiu i

i NG became "loud" 11: was probably a 31gn of detenoratmg rnental health,

and he did become "loud" during August. On Wednesday 24 August DV, the
Manager at the Centre, decided to contact NG's Social Worker and report the
posmon She had no documentatlon apart from the referral of 14 March
1994 (see 2.26 above). It was her usual practice to begin by trymg to make

RS T Jf

contact w1th the person makmg the referral but she had dlfﬁculty m readmg

* the handwritten name of Dr JH and the West Middlesex Hospital were not

able to assist in identification. In any event Dr JH wa.s nearing the end of her
training placement and was on leave. Eventually DV was able to identify HF
as the responsible social worker and learned that he was on holiday until the
end of the month. Shelefta ntessage for him on 31 August and he returned

the call the following day.
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2.45

2.46

On Thursday 25 ‘August NG informed staff at the Heston Work Centre that he
would not be attending again because he was going to work as a driver for a
Mini Cab comp.any, using a car which he had bought at auction two weeks
previously. GJ and another member of her staff endeavoured to dissuade him
from taking this course but were unable to do so. It was the intention of GJ
to mform SG of this development, but the Bank I-Iohday week-end mtervened
and in the event she did not do so before HF telephoned her on Wednesday 31
August,

In addition to these matters I-IF also hecame aware on hls return from

hohday of the further complamts about n01se (see 2 42) and the complalmng

- B edeia B - i
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| Vnelghbour spoke to. HF on the telephone on 30 August HF was unaware of

1 g A% Wty whevs To AR TSN TEREY SRR e 2

the ongural complamt (see 272.2) and took the view that such a con__rplamt

TR R T ISR ST

n:ught well be exaggerated

V:srt by key worker |
HF called to see NG twice on 30 August but drd not ﬁnd hun at home, he did
succeed on 31 August NG invited h1m in to the ﬂat and then, as was his
custom, Iocked the door, puttmg the key in his pocket. HF understood this
action to be mtended asa defence agamst mtruders rather than asa threat to
himself and told us that he did not feel threatened, but he was cautious and did
not raise any controversral matters untll he was safely on the other srde of the
door. NG alleged that people were breakmg in, stealmg his songs, damaging

his clothes and tampering with a large bolt which he had put on the inside of

his bedroom door; it was this tampering which required attention with a

. hammer. HF took the view that although NG presented as paranoid as usual

and was in an agitated state, there was insufficient cause for concern about his
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2.48

2.49

health and safety to suggest that he needed to be in héspital and nothing to
justify the use Qf Mental Health Act powers. He felt that weekly visiting
would be appropriate.
On 2 September HF discussed the case with ME. HF understood that he was
being instructed to consider either consulting those concerned in NG's Care
Programme or arranging for a medical re-assessment of NG's mental state
using compulsory powers if necessary; ME told us that although he was
careful not to fetter the discretion of an Approved Social Worker he was
instructing HF to take one or other of the two.courses outlined. We were
unable to detect any clear instmctic;n |
Later ‘t.hat Say HF r;éélx;ed a_;ljo!';{ﬁ; co;xclplz:unts &om NG’s nelghbour allegmg |
that he was followmg hcr on her Journeys to school with her child and that he
seemed always to know where she was-in her flat, perhaps by means of a hole
in the ceiling. HF noted that she sounded almost paranoid.

| ASé(-BO-I'ld‘.V.isi-f be key worker |
Ons Scptember 1994 HF VlS!ted NG at home HIS generaI impression was

.....

that he had been correct in takmg no action under the Mental Health Act on

31 August, because NG appeared to have improved and was not "sectionable",

NG said that he had stopped hammering, but still believed that people were
entering his flat in his absence and stealing things such as his petrol receipts.'
He was not finding Mini Cab driving to be profitable. After NG's arrest HF
discovered on attempting to arrange a CPA meeting that Dr LP had gone on

leave at the end of August until 19 September.
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2.52

The fatal day
On 6 September .NG attended the Star Centre in the morning when it opened.
JG spoke to him for nearly an hour. He repeated his view that Mini Cab
driving was not profitable but did not appear to blame o.nybody for this. He
mentioned that tapes of his singing were not playing as well as they had and
thought that they might haye beoq interfered W‘lth After this conversation NG
sat calmly at a table for some time and left at about 11.30 am. JG did not feel
that NG wos "sectionable". We would have liked to hoar oral evidence from
JGin ampliﬁcation of Hs helpM lwritten report out he declined an invitation

to attend.

e
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In the aftemoon of that day NG was in his carin a car park in Hounslow and

Hi’):

| knocked down and fatally mjured the dnver of another car as she walked

"~ across the car park. We have read numerous dlffenng accounts of this

incident. NG told us that at the time he was totally engrossed in his own
thoughts which concerned apparent alterations to the words of one of his own
songs recorded on tape which he was playing at the time, and the fear of
eviction from his flat and that he simply failed to notice either the pedestrian
or the speed at which he was drivihg. Hoﬁever we feel unable to éccept this
account at its face value, because we are aware that NG has indicated in
interviews with other key professionals that he was angry at the interference
with his song and that some of that anger became directed at the pedestrian.
In all the circumstances, including the fact that the ;‘elevant evidence has
never been tested in court, we are unable to determine what (if anything) NG
had in mind.

In the light of the medical reports obtained after the arrest of NG we are

satisfied that there was at the material time a substantial exacerbation of his
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paranoid schizophrenia and that he was much more unwell at the end of 1994

than at any previous time in his life. It is possible that this process began in

August 1994. NG is at present detained in a secure hospital.
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3.1

3.2

~3.3

3. COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
[t is apparent from a recitation of the facts and without the use of hindsight -
that there were numerous failures and shortcomings in the care given to NG.
We have left many of these to speak for themselves and have tried to select
the most significant for specific comment.

Race and Ethnicity

We mention one matter which is capable of being significant but which we are
able to put to one side. The 1991 census indicates that the population of
Hounslow is 208,000, with an ethnic minority population of 24.4%
predominantly from the Indian sub-continent. Such a population requires the
development of organisations and services which are designed to address and
redress the effects of racism and discrimination. Black and ethnic minority
people who are mentally.ill may suffer double discrimination. Numerous
reports and studies (see Resource Materials) have indicated that mental health
services are failing to meet the needs of ethnic minority communities
nationally. The evidence of prevalent rates of mental illness in black and
ethnic minority communities is inconsistent and unreliable; there is
considerable debate and there are conflicting interprefations of the current
data. However, there is growing agreement regarding the key issues that need
to be addressed to provide relevant services to meet the needs of users and
carers.
NG is a Kenyan Asian; the victim was also Asian. We scrutinised the Joint
Strategy for Mental Heath Services and the Community Care Plans produced
by the Authority, the Trust and Social Services. These show an understanding
of the key issues and a willingness to address them. In addition, we have tried
to be alert to these issues in our consideration of the voluminous
documentation obtained from all sources and in our interviews with witnesses.

We did not find any evidence or suggestion of racial prejudice or

- discrimination in the provision of services to NG.
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3.5

3.6

3.7

38

Resources
The mental health services are provided, and professional staff are required to
operate, in a res:ource context that is recognised nationally as under intense
pressure. Overall the financial resources available for mental health services,
provided by the health and social services, have been severely constrained
over many years, even though there is a substantial body of evidence that
indicates that demand continues to expand.
The situation facing service providers in Hounslow matched the national
picture, but also had some unique and important elements.
The Joint Mental Health Strategy for Hounslow (October 1995) produced by

the Authority, Trust and Social Services Department, stated:™ ™ -

* "When Ealing, Hammersmith &Hounslow Health Agency (EHH) was -~
- -~ formed-on'1’'April-1993 it inherited a'mentat health funding level for

Hounslow residents that was low in’¢omparison to other sirﬁil‘a’r boroughs . . .
"In April 1993 EHH spent £24:6 per"HounsIo'w resident each year on all
mental health services, the figures as of April 1995 is £40.1 per Hounslow
resident. EHH Health Agency's contract with the local provider, Hounslow &
Spelthorne Community and Mental Health NHS Trust, has risen from £5.9
million in April 1993 to just over £10 million in April 1995."

Low funding led at that Me'tb'ef(cessive workloads placed on consultant
psychiatrists, an absence of doctors with MRCPsych qualifications to share
the workloads, inadequate numbers of CPNs with heavy caseloads, and an
inadequate range of services for users.

It is to the credit of the Health Authority that a review of mental health
services was commissioned which, coupled with the Authority's own research
on accepted indica_tors of mental health need, has led EHH to initiate a
substantial phased investment in mental health services in Hounslow, which is
being targeted systematically at improving the quality of existing services as

well as commissioning new services for Hounslow residents.
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3.10

3.1

With regard to the resource position of the Social Services Department. we
were advised that whilst the Department's overall budget had been reduced
over the last few years, a situation replicated in the majority of SSDs
nationally, the Department has given priorify to the mental health services
budget which has been protected from budget cuts. However, it has not been
possible to increase resources into the mental health service to any great
extent, except by the use of specific grants. Compared with other Outer
London Boroughs, Hounslow's Social Services Department's investment is
better than average: the DoH key indicators for 1995/96 indicate that the
budget for mental health services (age 18-64) is £20.00 per head of
population. - neo - on .o et
The mental health commissioners-and providers are jointly redressing historial
deficiencies: much has been-achieved;-but all the'professionals accepted that
much more needs to be done and that resources will-remain constraifed in the
future. The Inquiry Panel_ commend the efforts:made to date and support the
general approaches set. out in the strategic documents presented. We were
sorry to learn, however, that despite strenuous-efforts; the Trust has been
unable to appoint the additional consultant psychiatrist for whom funds are
now available. .

| Closure of the social work file- -
In our view the events of November 1993, if they showed nothing else,
showed that NG required regular social work support. We do not consider
that the social work file should have been closed in October 1993 (see 2.18).
Obviously, the constant and continuing demands on the social work teams-
need to be effectively fnanaged by closure of appropriate cases. However, in
our view, a full and proper assessment of all the circumstances would have
identified NG as a priority case, requiring continuing support and supervision.
We recommend that all persons known to suffer from severe mental disorder

should continue to receive appropriate support from a multidisciplinary
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3.12

3.13

3.14

-and itsplanning. .

Mental Health Team and should not be expected to rely on the duty social
worker for assistance.

Discharge to Day Hospital
We are concerned about the way in which NG was discharged from Hospital
in March 1994 (2.20 to 2.25). There appeared to have been a significant
change in NG's condition resulting in symptoms not previously seen.
Concern about this had been communicated by Dr NR to Dr LP"in his letter of
November 1993 (see 2.19). Dr HA assessed NG but did not in our view place
enough weight on the concerns of Dr NR who knew him well. However we
acknowledge that she was a GP trainee with limited experience. We also

consider the suicide attempt leading to admissidn to hospital to have been a

significant event which should haye led to a cautious approach to discharge

_ SR ST SO TR L e
The view taken by Dr.LP was that the.suicide attempt was_:-impulsi.ve;
following upon a disagreement with father and was not a significant .
manifestation of psychosis. However NG was experiencing some psychotic
symptoms and she felt that he should be.on medication.and told him that if he
did not accept medication he would be sectioned. She began with oral
medication because that made the dosage easier to adjust. She suggested
depot injections but NG. was unwilling to accept thesg and she did not pursue
the matter. Dr LP did not consider compulsory detention in hospital for
treatment was an option because NG was not 'sectionable' under the Mental
Health Act 1983. This appears to have been based upon her assessment that
he was compliant with oral medication.. In all the circumstances she
considered that he could safely be discharged to the control_led and supportive
environment of the Day Hospital.

On the other hand it seems to us that Dr LP might have taken the view that
there was evidence of psychotic illness, which could be effectively controlled

by medication, and that depot injections were indicated in view of NG's lack
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of insight and stated disinclination to take oral medication after discharge. On
this basis, in our view, an application for compulsory admission under s.3 of
the Mental Health Act 1983 for treatment by depot injection might have been
successful. Dr LP repeatedly told us that NG was not 'sectionable’ (see 3.36
below). By this Dr LP meant that he did not fulfil the criteria for compulsory
detention for treatment. Whilst we accept that such an application might have
been unsuccessful, NG certainly could have met all the criteria fof.cdmpulsory _
treatment. He was mentally ill." It was of a nature; although pérhaps not of a
degree (the two are alternatives), to warrant detention in hospital for treatment
in the interests of his health but perhaps not safety (these are ‘élsq
alternatives). As NG 'was manifestly'not going to co-operate with oral

- medication out-of hospital'and had riot done so for the previous elghtcen
months, compulsory treatment could certainly have béetijiistifed e
Unfortunately, misundeérstanding in rélation to'the Mental Héalth Act ledto'an
assumption that he did niot mieet the criteria for compul§éry adimission for
treatment. This led to reliance upon a tréatment plan that was‘dodmed to fail.

* This was, at best; naive. NG might; therefore, have been'detaineduntil he had .
gained enough insight to accept depot injection voluntanly '
Such a course would have had the support of NG's family if, as we consider

' they should have been; thiey had-beén fully engaged in the'décisiofs relating
to his care.

3.15 In'the end we do not feel ablé to say that Dr LP was wrong to take the course
which she did although in the light of later developments it is unfortunate that
the opportunity to institute a more satisfactory therapeutic regime was missed.
We note that NG does unwillingly accept depot medication in the secure

hospital in which he is now held.
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3.17

3.18

CPA Meetings - February/March 1994
We do not need to comment further on the abortive CPA meeting in F ebruary
1994 (see 2.23 above). We accept that multi-disciplinary meetings have to be
cancelled from time to time but inconvenience to busy people is very likely to
be the result, and those whose attendance is essential should regard attendance
as a very h1gh priority. Likewise we are aware that from time to time a failure
of communication will result in people who have arrived for a meeting finding
that it has taken place without them (see 2.24 above). However every effort
must be made by all concerned to avoid such mishaps and, if one occurs,
every eﬁ“ort should be made to ensure that any information which is known
only to those who missed the meeting is recorded and lmparted to all parties

attendmg

SR TR S

- Those.concerns apart we do not need fo comment extensively on the March

CPA meeting or the record that was made of it. We bear in mind that NG was
being discharged to tl_1e Day Hospital whefe he could be expected to receive a
good deal of supervision and support. Nevertheless it would have been better
if it had been a truly multidisciplinary meeting and, in particular, a CPN
should have taken NG on to his or her caseload at that stage so as to assist in
his ultlmate dlscha:ge ﬁom the Day Hospital. The record of the meeting
should have been fuller and should have been more widely circulated. We
think that these obvious deficiencies would be remedied under the CPA
procedures now in place.

Anger Management |
We note that some work was done at the Day Hospital in the field of anger
management (see 2,27 above). We consider that work in this field ought not
to be left to an inexperienced person or left in the air once the need for it is
recognised and we recommend that anger management therapy should only
be undertaken by or under the close supervision of experienced qualified staff,

Failure of this form of treatment should lead to a consideration of alternative
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3.19

treatments including referral to a specialist centre. F urthermore it should have
been registered as an unmet need in NG's CPA review in June 1994 (see 2.29
and 3.19).

Discharge from Day Hospital
As set out above (see 3.12 to 3.15) we have some doubt as to whether NG
should have been discharged from hospital in March and, for similar reasons,
we are doubtful whether he was ready for‘discharge from the Day I—iospital in
June. However, if Dr CR and kis teaﬁi were correct in their view that he was

ready for discharge then very careful consideration should have been given to

" his needs on discharge. In'the first place the CPA meeting should have

preceded the date of discharge and not followed it (see 2.29). This was made
all the more necessary by the change of consultant responsibility on discharge.

 ‘Both consilltants did Hot ditend the CPA g g the Day Hospital nofes

were'not utilised. ‘We rotetht the issiié 6f éonsultant responisibility at the
Day Hospital is urider review, with the cbjeétive of providing continuity of
this responsibility and that there i5 Hiow béfter communication beiveen Day
Hospital and catchment area consultants. ' We think it important that these
matters are finally resolved as soon as ﬁdssible and are concerned that further

delays may occur due to other internal reorganisations. Accordingly we

""" recommend that the Chief Executive 6f t18 Trst ensures that the issue of

consultant responsibility of the Day Hospital is resolved without delay.
Secondly it should have been a multidisciplinary meétihgﬁa:ia’ixivitations
should have been extended to agencies such as the Star Centre (see 2.26), the
Heston Work Centre (see 2.28) and to the family, and a CPN should have
been in attendance and might well, with advantage, have been chosen as key
worker. Finally a proper record of the meeting should have been made and
circulated at once. All in all we regard this meeting as a travesty of a proper

CPA meeting. Dr LP and HF should have discontinued the meeting and
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.. following points if they have not already done so. .. ...

321

3.22

reconvened it as soon as possible with proper information and having secured
the attendance of all those involved in NG's care plan.

From a detailed examination of the past and current documentation, we note
that CPA procedures have been and are being modified and improved and we
consider that all necessary amendments in procedure should be implemented
as soon as possible. The challenge for management is to ensure that as far as
possible procedure and practice go hand in hand. We were-advised that the.
multidisciplinary training undertaken in 1994/95 was well received by
relevant staff. The revised procedure will require additional training input,
both to reinforce existing training and to address the needs of newly recruited

staff. We have not thought it appropri;ite to examine the work of the relevant

working party in detail; we would expect them to take into account the

B e F

It is important that the transmission of vital information is. gglt;.h_a;nggred by
undue concern about confidentiality. In our view the disch_a;ge of patients
subject to the CPA procedure with a history of violence is an area where the
public interest is dominant, This is addressed in para 6 of HSG(Q4)27 and we
understand that the Trust has received legal advice in similar terms. As an
additional safeguard the consent of the patient to necessary disclos_g_r_g should
be bbtained and recorded. We recom_mend that all statutory, voluntary and
independent agencies (and particularly inqluding general practitioners) likely
to be involved in the care of patients subject to the CPA procedure should be
invited to attend CPA meetings and should receive copies of the record of the
meeting whether they attend or not. It is particularly important that a copy of
the record should be given to a relevant agency if it is unable to a&end
because pressures of work and limited resources may make it difficult for staff
to attend meetings.

We note and support the amendments to the CPA documentation which

provide an opportunity for user and carer(s) to make a contribution. There is
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substantial evidence contained in Authority, Trust and Social Services policy
and practice documentation of an understanding of the value of working in
partnership w1th users and carers. It is regrettable that in this case the
agencies individually and collectively failed to communicate with or involve
NG's family in any meaningful way. We accept that such an approach can be
problematic, particularly as in this case where NG was in conflict with his
father (but not vﬁth his brother and other siblings). However it is essential
that professionals ensure that users and earers are adeqﬂateiy informed about
the CPA/care planning process and the resources and services that might be
available to them as part of the individual care programme and give credence

to their wishes and viéws which should be supported if necessary by

independent advotacy. We recommend that as"will as tﬁe‘ij'se:r,"aﬂl'likely

! J..! d iu

“carers of patients subject to thé'CPA procedure should be invited to attend
" CPA meetings and should feceive c0p1es of the Fecord of the theeting whetlier

they attend or not.

HSG(94)27 provided detailed gﬁidance on the impertance of risk assessment
in discharge decisions arid a number of Inquiry Reports and other publications
(many listed under Resource Materials) provide further information. We

therefore do not intend to repeat all these except to- relterate that all

' orgamsahons need to develop a risk management strategy almed at promotmg

the safety and security of patients, staff and the public. Such a strategy would
include a reporting process for informing staff of a patient's propensity to
violence, environmental assessment, incident reporting system, and
continuing training for staff. The Report of the Inquiry into the Care and
Treatment of Christopher Clunis also reinforces the practice that an accurate
record should be made of any incident of violence and the details should be
included in the discharge summary, accompanied by an assessment of risk

whenever the patient has acted with violence. We note that such recording
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3.25

3.26

3.27

systems are now being implemented and we recommend that the risk
assessment should be an integral part of the CPA documentation circulated.
We further recommend that the CPA documentation should include
information as to the nature of the patient's medication (at least indicating
whether it is taken orally or by depot injection). In line with the
recommendations made in other Inquiry Reports, we recommend that all
members of the team-should-be alerted to the signs and symptoms in the
patient which may indicate that the patient is likely to relapse. These
indications may be identified by the doctors, the patient or carers. Non
compliance with medication should be recognised as a significant pointer to a
relapse. o | | |

We further recommend that a deputy for the key worker should ‘oe identified
and the 1dent1ty recorded ar‘the;C}’A“rneetmg and that the key worker and
deputy should not be on holrday: togetiler without rnakmg specrﬁc

arrangements for cover. These should mclude arrangements for handover and

for notification to all concerned

In addition NG had the benefit of a referral to the Star Centre (see 2.26
above). This agency appears to do good work within the limits of its
resources. ‘The problems which the staff experieireed'wﬁeﬁ they became
concerned about NG should be addressed by unproved CPA practice. We
recommend that all referrals to the Star Centre of patlents subject to the CPA

procedure should be accompanied by full CPA documentation.

NG also had the benefit of a referral to the Heston Work Centre (see 2.28
above). We do not consider that the Heston Work Centre, as currently staffed
and managed, is a suitable environment for the placement of people with

severe mental illness and with a history of viclence. The Director of Social

. Services told us that the long term future of the Centre had been under
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consideration for a number of years. It is evident that the Centre has operated
over the last few years with a more "open door" policy than had originally
been intende;d, but that this expansion of the service has not been reflected in
the staffing complement or organisational location of the Centre. We consider
that this change of role, if the Social Services Department intends to continue
to use it for such purposes, should be formally recognised, although we
appreciate that considerable investment in resources and personnel would be

required to provide a wholly appropriate service. We understand that more
suitable facilities (PSAW and Mental Health Day Centre) have been under

consideration for some time but that for reasons largely attributable to lack of

funding they have not come to fruition. We note that supported employment

o 1ril]_ ¥ H ?“LJ—‘ TEER LN R

istobe prov1ded through two new progects in 1996197 (Draﬂ Commumty
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Ca:e Plan 1996/97) ‘We recommond that all referrals to the Heston Work

_ Centre, or'to any other day care resourcc of patlents subject to the CPA

YR
procedure should be accompamed by ﬁlll CPA documentatlon

Medication
The arrangements for NG's medical care on dischutge were that he should be

reviewed as an out-patient and should obtain monthly prescriptions from his

GP. We note that out-patient reviews were conducted by an SHO with limited

experience. We appreciate that the workload of the responsible consultant
inay require this course to be taken, and no doubt the SHO gains val_uable
experience in the process. Neveﬁholess we feoomn;ond that out-oafient
reviews of patients subject to the CPA procedure should be under the close
supervision of the responsible consultant, We further recommend that
doctors without the qualification MRCPsych should not assess patients except
under supervision. This means that if an assessment is to be conducted by an
inexperienced SHO the responsible consultant should be available and ideally
there should be time both before and aﬁem&ds for the SHO to discuss the
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3.30

case with the consultant; it should not be left to the SHO to ask for help. We
undgrstand that present practice adopts this procedure.

In our view, in ale light of his recent history, NG should have been subject to
monthly out-patient reviews and Dr JH should have arranged for him to be
seen again in August rather than in September (see 2.31 above) especially
since she would have been replaced by her successor in September.

We note with approval that Dr NR saw NG when he requested repeat
prescriptions. It appears that NG last visited Dr NR for this purpose on

2 August (see 2.35 above) and that he should have asked for a repeat
prescription at the end of August or beginning of September but did not do so.
Ideally, by the use of specific 'software! within a computerised patient

database, a GP can arrange to. be informed.if a patient does not request a

. Tepeat prescription. ‘Such an arrangement would be particularly-useful in the
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case of a patient. subject to the CPA procedure-and where compliance with
treatment is in doubt. We accept, however, that it may be difficult in practice
to make such an arrangement or to make contact with the defaulting patient.
This position reinforces the need to.maintain monthly out-patient reviews in
appropriate cases.

Health deteriorates '
There was regrettable delay in addressing the concerns expressed by the
Heston Work Centre (see 2.37 and 2.38 above). Such delays should not recur
if agencies such as the Heston Work Centre are aware of the identity of the
key worker through the proper implementation of the CPA and if the key
worker has an identified deputy or other cover for holiday periods (see 3.25).

CPN involvement

We have already recorded our view that a CPN should have been involved at
a much earlier stage (see 3.17 and 3.19). It was in our view reasonable of Dr
LP to involve a CPN in August, but it was difficult for SG to appreciate the

true position from the information given to her. At that time the CPN service
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was in great difficulty arising from a heavy workload and lack of effective
middle management, of which senior management was not fully aware.
Ideally SG ohgilt to have endeavoured to secure any notes that might have
been available, although we recognise the pressures that she was under. We
understand that work is in hand to improve the co-operation between the CPN
service and Social Services and that both the Director of Social Services and
the Chief Executive of the Trust are committed to the establishment of multi
disciplinary Community Mental Health Teams. The plan being initiated to
bring into operation Community Mental Health Centres will, in our view,
enhance working relationships and communication and reduce the likelihood
of'a repetition of the situation which &evéibped in the case of NG in ‘August

1994, bt it is'esséritial that'thé platinifig and implemeéntationf these is

- undertaken''as a joint enterprisé betvieen the SSD anid THist:*Wé'Fecommend

that the Trust and Social Services Department develop & costed and
timescaled strategic plan for the development and impléméntation of
integrated multidisciplinary Community and Mental Health Teams as soon as
practicable. We support the recommendations‘of thie Brotchie report (see
Resource Materials) which identifies a range of key issues that need to be
addressed to improve the efficiency, effectiveness and quality of the CPN
service. Professional supervision and managerial support should bé readily
available to Community Mental Health Centre and Team Managers. CPN
caseloads should be kept under review and CPN record keeping should be
subjected to an internal audit process.

Further concerns |
A growing volume of information (see 2.42 to 2.44) suggesting that NG was
unwell was available in August but was not reaching Social Services in the
absence of HF and in the absence of an identified deputy or specific cover. It
is not easy to appreciate the significance of small pieces of information in the

absence of a working knowledge of the complete picture and it is not easy to
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3.35

acquire such a working knowledge from a brief perusal of the file. Itis
understandable that ME felt (wrongly as it now appears) that no action was
required on 23 August (see 2.42) and we bear in mind that he was guided by
the view of SG that no action was required (see 2.40). We are satisfied that -
the opportunities for the occurrence of sucﬁ errors will be much reduced if
proper holiday arrangements are in place ( see 3.25).

" Visits by key worker-- -
We are also satisfied that HF made an error of judgment in deciding that no
action was -required on 31 August (see 2.46). He had received a mounting
body of information suggcstmg a markcd detenoratxon in NG's health and he
wasina good position to appreclate the significance of that mformanon,
although limited thought appears to have been given to whether NG was still
compliantwitl his medication‘and“the implicationsif he wasnot: “The - .
principal reason for this error appears.to have been a misapprehension as to
his powers under the Mental Health Act 1983.

We noted in the evidence of both ME and HF a wideij held but erroneous
view as to the cntena for compulsory admlssmn to hospltal under the Mental
Health Act 1983. In both section 2 and section 3 of the Act the words used
are "health or sgfety“ and not “hool_th and safety". Thls means thot an
appiicationifor .admission for osoes;so;on.t uoder section 2 (orI an oppﬁcation for
admission for emergency. assessment- uoder section 4) may bo mode solely on
the ground that the patient's health requires compulsory admission regardless
of the question of safety (see also 3.14). Iodeed the real criticism which we
have of HF's decision to take no action is that by misapprehending his powers
he did not concentrate upon the state of NG's health and in effect took it upon

himself to conduct an assessment on the doorstep. We are of the opinion that
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337"

3.38

3.39

if a proper assessment had been conducted at that stage, either voluntarily or
computsorily, NG might thereafter have been admitted to hospital for
treatment. .

We note that similar confusion can arise from the use of the word |
"sectionable" (see2.49, 2.50 and 3.14). It is desirable to distinguish the
patient who has no need to be m hospital either for assessment or treatment
from the patient who needs to be in hospital but does not meet the criteria for
compulsory admission. HF as the potential appllcant for the compulsory
admission of NG should not have assumed what the medlcal recommendation

rmght have been

" T o S g e P TI, Sertere
HEDE SO e R S R L A F

. We are, awm‘ma&thqs&@eﬁiﬁc-issut?S:have_‘beﬁatA‘-the'sub.iect;»ef-_-. .

recommendations in"’eérlie'filnquiry.Reportsf ‘Even though many practitioners
are expenenced these aré matters whlch need to ‘be addréssed in tra.mmg and
refresher tra.mmg We reeommend that all person.nel havmg to do with the
operation of the Mental Health Act should be mstructed on these points at the —.
eerliest possible opportunity.

We are of the opinion that a much more presise iastruction should have been
givenby MEto HF on 2 September (see 2.47). HF should not have been
permitted to gain the impression that he was bemg given complete d.tscretlon
as to the course which he should adopt so that taking no action at all would be
acceptable. o |

Leave arrangements for doctors

We note that at the end of August both Dr LP and Dr JH were on leave
(see 2.43 and 2.49). We consider it to be wrong in principle for two members

of a team such as this to be on leave together although we appreciate that it
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may. be difficult to organise other arrangements. We recommend that the
Medical Director of the Trust, in consultation with the medical staff and with
their agreement, should implement a policy whereby consultants and junior
doctors should so arrange their leave so that no more than one medical
member of a team is away at any one time. A consultant who is going on
leave should ensure that the key worker for all patients subject to the CPA
procedure is aware of the arrangements made for cover. Furthennore,' when’
consultants are away clear arrangements for the supervision of junior medical
staff need to be made which consist of more than help at the end of a
telephone.

Driving

Fmally, we are concemed that NG was able to buy and dnve acar and

o perhaps tocarry fare-paylng passengers in 1t although we have not recelved

341

any convmcmg evidence that he actually worked asa Mlm Cab drwer The
fact of the matter is that acar is every b1t as lethal a weapon m the wrong
hands at the wrong time as 1s a ﬁreann Itis the duty of the holder ofa
driving licence who is ‘admitted to hospltal with a psychosis to mform the
DVLA of the fact of illness and treatment, and he should be advrsed by his
doctor not to dnve for a period of six months, or longer 1f symptoms persist.
If a patient is advised by his doctor of the obligation to inform the DVLA, but
does not do so, it may be appropriate for the doctor to comrnunicate with the
DVLA. The driving licence may be revoked if there is loss of insight or
judgement, |

Dr CR (who was looking after Dr LP's patients during her absence on leave at
the material time) told us, not surprisingly, that he would have advised NG not

to drive and certainty not to drive a Mini Cab. GJ from the Heston Work
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Centre (see 2.44) tried to find out the identity of the Mini Cab firm, but NG
refused to say more than that it was in the Hanworth Road. She told us that
she felt like visiting all the Mini Cab firms in the Hanworth Road to alert
them to the problem, but did not feel able to do so. HF asked about insurance
on 31 Augus? 1994, but did not pursue the topic after being told that it was "a
private matter", | o

As we understand the .posli‘tion there is qothing to prevent any person who is
so minded and is at liberty to do so from driving against at;lvice or even
illegally. We wish to draw the attenuon of all personnel havmg to do with

the operatlon of the Mental Health Act to the nsks to the safety of the panent,

- - . [ELT
1 I £ f M ar b Ao tl-,‘ k.i Fon z«- g\...'

~ orof otl-le-rs" 1f a patlent who should not be dnvmg a car by reason of mental

111ness or medlcatlon or both m31sts on so domg desplte adwce to the contrary.

_______

We note that the mtemal review team (see 1 10) recommended that gmdance

should be produced by the Medical Director of the Trust for Medical Staff,
Nurses and Somal Workers on the apphcatlon locally of the reqmrement by

the DVLA for patxents/chents to noufy the DVLA of hospltal adnnssxon or

" medication but, as we understand it, tlns con31sted of the clrculanon of

photocopies of relevant pages of the DVLA publication "At a glance guide to
the current medical standards of fitness to drive" which, although helpful as
far as it goes, does not give any guidance on the question of notification by
doctors, nurses or social workers. In our view there should be as far as
possible a uniform local practice in this regard and we recommend that the
Medical Director of the Trust should formulate and circulate a clear policy
statement indicating the circumstances in which it would be appropriate for

professional staff to notify DVLA of the illness of a patient.
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3.44

In view of the importance of this matter we further recommend that
consideration be given to the desirability of including in the CPA
documentation 2 note of the advice given to the patient about driving.

Final Conclusions . _
This tragedy probably occurred because NG was out of hospital and driving a
car at a tirne when he was not taking rhe medication which he needed and was
unwell. In our view he would, in all_probabiliry, have been discharged from
hospital at that time in any event, but he rrﬁght still have been in receipt of
medication - if a failed management plan had not beeu reiied upon and a more
assertive plan, for example by imposing depot medication had been
considered and unplemented However he should not then have been driving

a car. Slgns of a d'etenoratlon in hlS hea.lth were apparent to those who could

.,; T L ‘., s

recognise them but ‘hIS possrble need for further hospltal trealment ‘was not

met. Although it was, we thmk, predlctable that he wouId stop takmg oral
medication and that he might, in consequence, become unwell and that if
unwell he might exhibit some degree of violence, we do not consider that a
tragedy of this magnitude was predlctable It mrght have been prevented if
the management of this case had taken a dlﬁ'erent course and if he had been
re-admitted to hospital on or soon aﬁer 31 August 1994 or if he had then been
prevented from driving, but we are unable to say that any one person or any
one agency is to blame for vrhat occurred. In ithe end we are unable to say,
positively, that NG.was in ihe wrong pluce at the ﬁrong rir;le, but we hope
that our recommendations will help to ensure that those who are ill but who

are not in hospital are nevertheless seen to be in the right place.
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4, SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

We recommend as follows :-

1. All persons known to suffer from severe mental disorder
should continue to receive appropriate support from a multidisciplinary
Mental Health Team and should not be expected to rely on the duty

social worker for ass1stance G.11).

Action to be taken by: Trust

2. Anger management therapy should only be undertaken by or under
the close supemsmn of expenenced quallﬁed staff Fa11ure of thls form

of ueatment should lead to a conslderatlon of alternatxve treatments

. v —,;. i .
et dbara P Azh..n..- u ,; Tl 4 w}< 5 | i ,- .t.‘d- ,.J.{ ; ..d'.'-.. ,._' i

mcludmg referral toa speclahst centre (3 18) ‘
Trust o wam T Law

3. The Chief Executive of the Trust enadres thaf the 1ssue of cdnsultant
responsibility of the Day Hospital is resolved without delay (3.19).
Action to be taken by: Trust

4. All statutory, volunfal-"y’ and mdep-endent agenc1es (paruclﬂa:rly mcludmg
General Practltloners) 11kely to be mvolved in the care of patlents subject
to the CPA procedure should be mwted to attend CPA meetmgs and

should receive copies of the record of the meeting whether they attend or

not (3.21).
Action to be taken by: Trust, SSD, Voluntary Organisations
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3. As well as the user, all likely carers of patients subject to the CPA
procedure should be invited to attend CPA meetings and should receive copies

of the record of the meeting whether they attend or not (3.22).
Action to be taken by: Trust

6. The risk assessment should be an integral part of the CPA documentation
circulated (3.23). | e Lo

Action to be taken by: Trust

7. The CPA documentation should include information as to the nature of the
patient's medication (at least indicating whether it is taken orally or by depot
 injection), In line with the recommendations made in other. Inquiry Reports,
we recommend. that all members of the team:should.be a,_lcgh;gl_-!tg;t_l;g.sigus and
symptoms in the patient which may indicatethat the patient is kel to
relapse. These indications may be identified by the doctors, the patient or
carers. Non coxﬁpliance with medication should be recognised as a significant

pointer to a relapse (3.24).
Action to be taken by: Trust

8. A deputy for the key worker should be identified and the identity recorded
at the CPA meeting and the key worker and deputy should not be on holiday
together without making specific arrangements for cover.. These should

include arrangements for handover and for notification to all concerned (3.25).

Action to be taken by: Trust

9. All referrals to the Star Centre of patients subject to the CPA procedure
should be accompanied by full CPA documentation (3.26).

Action to be taken by: Trust, SSD, Voluntary Organisation
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10. All referrals to the Heston Work Centre or to any other day care resource
of patients subject to the CPA procedure should be accompanied by full CPA

documentation'(3.27).

Action to be taken by: Trust, SSD, Voluntary Organisation

11. Out-patient reviews of patients subject to the CPA procedu:e should be
under the ciose supervision of the reéponsible consultant and doctors without
the qualification MRCPsych should not assess patients e:fdept under
supervision (3.28). '
Action to be taken by: Trust

12: Wé recommiend that the Trust and SSD'develop 4 costed éind tiriiescaled
strategic plan 'fc'i'ftﬁé’ééﬁélﬁi&fiiéhfaﬁd"ihfﬁléﬁéﬁﬁﬁoh‘ﬁfﬂﬁéﬁi%t&&' |
multidisciplinary Community and Mental Health Teams as $oon'ds'is
practicable (3.32). < -’ SV RO

Action to be taken by: Trust,SSD = =~ -~

13. Professional Eupervision and managerial support should bé'fcadily
available to Community Mental Health Centre and Team Managers. CPN
caseloads should be keptunder review and CPN récord keépinig should be
subjected to an internal audit process. (3.32).

Action to be taken by: Trust

14, All personnel having to do with the operation of the Mental Health Act
should be reminded at the earliest possible opportunity that the words used in
sections 2 and 3 of the Act are "health or safety” and not "health and safety"
(3.37).

Action to be taken by: Trust, SSD




I5. The Medical Director of the Trust in consultation with the medical statf
and with their agreement should implement a policy whereby consultants and
Jjunior doctors should so arrange their leave that no more than one medical
member of a team is away at any one time. A con;ult—ant— wh—o 1sgomg on |
leave should énsure that the key worker for all patients subject to the CPA

procedure is aware of the arrangements made for cover 3. 39)

Amn_tmmmm Trust

16. The Medical Director of the Trust should formulate and circulate a clear
policy statement indicating the circumstances in which it would be
appropriate for professxonal staff to notify DVLA of the illness of a patient

(3.42).
ooy SO o e e e

Ag:;tmn Iﬂ bg takgn hg Trust o

sy

17. Consideration should be given to the desuablhty of mcludmg in the CPA

documentation a note of the advice given to the patlent about dnvmg (3.43).

Action to be taken by: Trust T
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5. LIST OF WITNESSES

NG

VLG, father of’NG

YG, brother of NG

SK, husband of victim

Chief Executive, Hounslow & Spelthorne Community and Mental Health

" NHS Trust

Chief Executive, Ealing, Hammersmith & Hounslow Health Authority

Director of Social Services, London Borough of Hounslow

2 Consultant Psychiatrists, Hounslow & Spelthome Commumty and Mental
Health NHS Trust (Drs LP and CR) = “#%+

NG's GP (Dr NR)

Senior Housing Officer to Consultant Psychiatrist, Hounslow & Spelthorne
Community and Mental Health NHS Trust (Dr JH)

Community Psychiatric Nurse, Hounslow & Spelthome Commumty and
Mental Health NHS Trust (SG) © & -

Ex Community Services. Manager Hounslow & Spelthorne Commumty
and Mental Health NHS Trust (AC) '

Ex Co-ordmator Lakeside Day Hospital (SC) |

Social Worker (West Team); London: Borough of Hounslow Soc1a1 Semces

(HF) IR S
Team Leader (West Team), London Borough of Hounslow Social Services
(ME)

Therapeutic Manager, Star Centre (DV) . : -
Project Co-ordinator, Star Centre

Manager, Heston Work Centre (GJ)

Officer, Heston Work Centre
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